1977

# In the Matter of the Estate of Harvard L. Wheadon, Deceased : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This case arises under the provisions of Utah's Lost Will Statute, Utah Code Annotated, Sec. 75-3-26 (1953), and involves the issue of whether a lost will may be admitted to probate upon proof of its legal existence (non-revocation) or whether proof of its actual, physical existence at the time of the testator's death is required.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried to a jury; however, the lower court took the case from the jury upon objectors'-respondents' Motion for a Directed Verdict. The lower court held that a lost will may not be admitted to probate merely upon proof of due execution, content and non-revocation. The court stated that before a lost will can be admitted to probate, it must be shown to have been in actual, physical existence at the time of

the testator's death. Since physical existence was not shown, the court refused to admit the lost will to probate.

The petitioners-appellants moved the court for a directed verdict upon the ground that the due execution, contents and non-revocation of the lost will had been established by unrefuted evidence, and that it should be admitted to probate as a matter of law. This motion was denied by the lower court.

Petitioners-appellants moved the court for a new trial, pursuant to Rule 58, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and said motion was also denied.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Petitioners-appellants seek reversal of the judgment and judgment in their favor as a matter of law, or that failing, a new trial.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The decedent, Harvard L. Wheadon, an unmarried man, died on April 14, 1976 in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, leaving real and personal property situate in said County and State.

On May 24, 1955, decedent duly executed a will (a conformed copy of which was introduced at trial; the contents of which are uncontroverted) leaving all his property, both personal and real, to his brother, Melvin S. Wheadon. The will gave nothing to his other brothers and sister, objectors and respondents herein. (Transcript 1-18; Exhibit 1-P)

In addition, the will named said Melvin S. Wheadon as the executor of the estate. (Transcript 1-21) Melvin S. Wheadon died on February 4, 1971, leaving two daughters, Ellen Wheadon Piercey and Iris Wheadon Jensen, petitioners and appellants herein. (Transcript 2-36, 2-45) Within 15 days of Melvin S. Wheadon's death, the decedent, Harvard L. Wheadon, executed a codicil to his last will and testament, whereby he changed his will to provide that Judy Burton and Sue Bateman should serve as the co-executrices of his estate. (Exhibit 2-P; Transcript 2-3) All other provisions of the will remained unaltered thus providing that his entire estate should go to the estate of his then-deceased brother, Melvin S. Wheadon. (Exhibits 1-P, 2-P)

The original will has not yet been located and it is not known whether decedent ever had possession of the document. No one ever saw it in his possession. Neither Mr. Everett Dahl, decedent's attorney, nor Mr. Dahl's former secretary, Ann Dahl, ever remembers having given

the document to the decedent. (Transcript 1-23, 24) Evidence showed merely that on occasion, Mr. Dahl would give the original document to the testator. (Transcript 1-23) Mr. Dahl testified that, in 1955, it was his practice, if asked by the client, to keep the original document. (Transcript 1-23, 2-27) He did not recall whether he kept the executed will or not. (Transcript 1-23) Nine years after the will was executed, Mr. Dahl and his partner separated and each took his own clients' documents. (Transcript 2-5) At this same time, an inventory was made of the wills Mr. Dahl had in his possession. (Transcript 2-5) That inventory showed that Mr. Dahl did not have the decedent's will in his possession. (Transcript 1-24; 2-6) Mr. Dahl also testified that it was his practice in 1955 to give a copy of the original will to the client. (Transcript 1-23). Shortly after the decedent's death, Mr. Dahl and his staff made a diligent search of his office and his files in order to locate the original will. Neither the will nor a copy of it was found as a result of this search. (Transcript 2-9; 2-12) However, on the day of trial, Mr. Dahl made another search for the missing will. At that time, he discovered the unexecuted copy of the will in his files, even though his prior diligence in searching had failed to locate it. (Transcript 2-11)

In 1971, when decedent executed his codicil, he insisted that Mr. Dahl retain the original document. (Transcript 2-7) Mr. Dahl did retain that document and it has been submitted for probate.

Mr. Wheadon, decedent, was a man possessed of a great awareness of the need for a will. (Transcript 3-4, 3-35) To his close

friends he indicated on a number of occasions that his affairs were in order and that all was taken care of, and that they too should get their affairs in order. (Transcript 3-3, Transcript 3-4, Transcript 3-5, Transcript 3-38) To one of his closest friends, Judy Burton, he stated several months before his demise that he had a will. (Transcript 3-2) The background for that statement was a discussion between the two of them shortly after Judy's step-father had died intestate, causing confusion to the surviving members of the family. (Transcript 2-49, 3-2)

Additionally, on the way to the hospital a few days prior to decedent's death, a newscaster on the radio reported the imbroglio surrounding the purported Howard Hughes will. (Transcript 3-3, 3-4) Again on that occasion, decedent told Judy Burton of his awareness of the importance of a will. (Transcript 3-4)

To Ray and Joyce Shepard, currently living in Oklahoma, decedent indicated that he had a will and that his affairs were in order. (Record 230)

A day or two after decedent's death, Bertha Tilbury and John Wheadon, along with Bertha's daughter, Helen Somer, asked Ray and Joyce Shepard (decedent's next-door neighbors, with whom he had left his keys) for the keys to the decedent's house for the purpose of obtaining a suit in which to bury decedent. (Transcript 3-62) At the time, Grant Palmer, a friend of the Shepards, was visiting at their house. (Record 227)

By affidavit, the Shepards stated that Bertha, John and Helen went to the house in company with Ray and Joyce Shepard and Grant Palmer. (Record 230-231) Once inside, Bertha and Helen went directly to the

cupboard where decedent was known to have kept some of his personal papers. (Record 230-231) The Shepards did not see what documents Bertha and Helen were handling. Nor did the Shepards see what documents, if any, were taken. Since the Shepards and Grant Palmer had gone to the house to get the Shepards' fish tanks and guns, those three left as soon as they had obtained their personal property. (Record 227, 230-231)

Grant Palmer, by affidavit, a copy of which is included in the record, stated under oath that by the time he and the Shepards arrived at decedent's home, John, Bertha and Helen were already inside. (Record 227) He observed that by the time he arrived, Bertha and Helen had taken decedent's personal papers from the cupboard, had them on the kitchen table, and were looking through them. (Record 227) When he and the Shepards left with the guns and fish tanks, the others remained behind. (Record 227) Mr. Palmer did not see any of the three outside the home until some 30 minutes later, when he observed Bertha come from the direction of the decedent's home and enter her own home. (Record 227)

Contrary to the affidavits of disinterested parties, Bertha testified at trial that she was not in the home at any time when the Shepards and Mr. Palmer were not present. (Transcript 3-71, 3-72, Record 227) She also testified that she did not handle the papers and documents in the cupboard. (Transcript 3-71, 3-72)

Helen also testified that she was not in the house at any time when the Shepards and Mr. Palmer were not present. (Transcript

3-76) Initially she also testified that she had never handled any of the documents or even opened the cupboard. However, upon being pressed on the matter, she finally admitted that the cupboard had been opened, but added, "Just a little." (Transcript 3-76)

Despite the testimony of Bertha and Helen, John testified that he was never in the house at the time in question. (Transcript 3-63) His testimony is also contradicted by that of Mr. Palmer and Mr. and Mrs. Shepard. (Record 227)

It was petitioners' intention to have Ray and Joyce Shepard testify at the trial; they had indicated that they would. Petitioners were providing the Shepards with plane tickets to Salt Lake City, Utah, and were making hotel accommodations for their stay--all at petitioners' expense. Because the Shepards lived in Oklahoma, they were beyond the subpoena powers of the Court. Despite that fact, as noted, the Shepards had agreed to voluntarily come to testify. However, within a matter of days, including a weekend, before the trial, the Shepards wavered in their willingness to testify, until finally just before trial, they refused to make an appearance. This was due to the illness of Mrs. Shepard at the time of trial and the fact that her brother-in-law had become critically ill.

Because of preparation for the trial, including drafting of petitioners' trial memorandum and jury instructions, and further preparation of petitioners' case-in-chief, petitioners' attorneys did not locate Grant Palmer for the purpose of finding out what he knew about

the incident. Petitioners' attorneys had never contacted Grant Palmer prior to trial, and his connection with the case seemed peripheral at best. It was only when the Shepards failed to appear and Bertha and Helen testified inconsistently as to the incident, that the importance of Mr. Palmer's knowledge became more apparent.

Objectors Tilbury and Wheadon were granted nothing by the will and thus would receive no property if the will were probated. If the decedent were found to have died intestate, they would each receive one-fourth of the estate.

At the close of petitioners' case-in-chief, both petitioners and objectors Tilbury and Wheadon moved for a directed verdict. Both motions were denied. (Transcript 3-41, 3-55)

At the conclusion of objectors' case, both petitioners and objectors moved again for a directed verdict. (Transcript 3-78, 79) Petitioners' motion was denied. (Transcript 3-79) Objectors' motion was granted on the ground that, as used in Section 75-3-26, U.C.A., the phrase "in existence" means actual, physical existence of the paper. (Transcript 3-80) While it was never proved that the will was not in actual physical existence, the Court held that the will's physical existence at the moment of the testator's death must be proved, and since it could not be proved it was not in physical existence at the pertinent moment, and thus the will was not entitled to be probated.

## ARGUMENT

The law in effect at the time of the decedent's death, and therefore the law which governs this case is contained in Section 75-3-26, Utah Code Annotated. That section provides:

No will shall be proved as a lost or destroyed will, unless the same is proved to have been in existence at the time of the death of the testator, or is shown to have been fraudulently destroyed in the lifetime of the testator, nor unless its provisions are clearly and distinctly proved by at least two credible witnesses. (Emphasis added.)

It is petitioners'-appellants' contention that "in existence", as used in this section, simply means legal existence, i.e., unrevoked. On the other hand, objectors-respondents claim that "in existence" means actual physical existence. While no Utah case has decided the issue, the judge at the trial indicated that most courts had interpreted the phrase to mean actual physical existence. Even though the will has never been shown not to exist, the trial court held that since its physical existence at the moment of testator's death was not shown, the will was inadmissible to probate. Petitioners-appellants contend that such a construction was erroneous, that legal existence is all that is required to carry out the purpose and intent of the statutes, and therefore they are entitled to a judgment in their favor as a matter of law.

### POINT I.

THAT LEGAL EXISTENCE IS SUFFICIENT UNDER UTAH CASE LAW TO SATISFY THE INTENT OF SECTION 75-3-36, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED.

While not dealing specifically with the issue of legal vis a vis physical existence, the only Utah case dealing with Section 75-3-26,

U.C.A. is In re Frandsen's Will, 50 Utah 156, 167 P. 362 (1917). In that case, the testatrix had executed a will in 1900. She executed two other wills later: One in 1911 and another in 1912. The latter two wills had been executed at a time when the testatrix was found to lack sufficient mental capacity, and therefore they were denied probate. The case then involved only the admissibility to probate of the will of 1900. That will had been duly executed and was recorded in the County Clerk's office. On July 5, 1911, testatrix was found and declared to be insane. The will was last seen in March, 1912--some three years prior to her death in 1915. The court faced the issue then of whether or not the will was in existence at testatrix' death. But rather than decide what "in existence" meant, the court based its decision on what "death" meant. In construing the statute, the court stated as the section's purpose, ". . . to prevent spurious wills from being proved." Frandsen, supra at 364. And further:

[I]f the whole purpose of the statute can be subserved, the court in furtherance of justice, may well give its provisions a fair and even a liberal construction rather than a narrow and strict one, when to do that would be unfair and unjust. (Frandsen, supra at 364.)

The court then proceeded to give the term "death" as used in the statute, a fair and reasonable interpretation. Rather than hold that "death" meant physical death, the court held that "death" meant legal or mental death, that is, loss of sufficient mental capacity either to make or revoke a will.

While she [testatrix] continued to live physically, she, however, was as much dead mentally for the purpose of making a will as she now is . . . When it is once shown that a testator is bereft of

the power either to change or to revoke an existing will, it is further shown, as here, that the will existed long after the power to revoke passed from the testator, then such a will fairly comes within the provisions of Section [75-3-26] and should be admitted to probate the same as though the testator had physically died. (Frandsen, supra at 365.)

The court thus drew a distinction between physical and legal death in order to reach a fair and just result. In the instant case, where it was conclusively shown that the will was unrevoked and therefore in legal existence, there is ample reason to comply with the mandate of the Frandsen decision, by construing the section liberally and fairly, and hold that legal existence sufficiently subserves the purpose of the section. To hold, as the trial court held, in limiting the statute to require physical existence, is to construe the statute narrowly and strictly with an unfair and unjust result.

## POINT II.

THAT A REQUIREMENT OF PHYSICAL EXISTENCE CONTRADICTS THE  
CLEAR INTENT OF SECTION 74-1-19, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED.

The Code is explicit on the ways in which wills may be revoked. And by the very language of the statute, the ways prescribed thereunder are exclusive. Section 74-1-19, U.C.A. states:

Except in cases in this chapter mentioned, no written will, nor any part thereof, can be revoked or altered otherwise than:

(1) By a written will or other writing of the testator declaring such revocation or alteration executed with the same formalities with which a will should be executed by such testator; or

(2) By being burned, torn, cancelled, obliterated or destroyed, with the intent and for the purpose of revoking the same, by the testator himself, or by some person in his presence and by his direction.

As seen from the language of that section, there are two physical ways of revoking a will: (1) By making a second will and (2) by destroying the will with the intent and purpose of revoking the same. The other ways provided by "except in the cases in this chapter mentioned" are by operation of law. Section 74-1-24,<sup>1</sup> U.C.A. provides for the revocation of a will in the case where the testator marries and has children after having executed a will. Section 74-1-25,<sup>2</sup> U.C.A. provides for the revocation of a testator's will where the testator marries after making his will. Section 74-1-31,<sup>3</sup> U.C.A. provides for the revo-

---

<sup>1</sup> 74-1-24. Effect of marriage and issue after making will. If after making a will the testator marries and has issue of such marriage born either in his lifetime or after his death, and the wife or issue survives him, the will is conclusively presumed to be revoked, unless provision is made for such issue by some settlement, or unless such issue is provided for in the will, or in such way mentioned therein as to show an intention not to make such provision; and no evidence of other facts to rebut the presumption of such revocation can be received.

<sup>2</sup> 74-1-25. Effect of marriage, if wife survives. If after making a will the testator marries and the wife survives him, the will is conclusively presumed to be revoked, unless provision has been made for her either by marriage contract, or by some written settlement showing on its face the testator's intention to substitute such contract or settlement for a provision in her favor in his will, or unless she is provided for in the will or in such way mentioned therein as to show an intention not to make such provision; and no evidence of other facts to rebut the presumption of revocation can be received.

<sup>3</sup> 74-1-31. Child born after making will. Whenever a testator has a child born either in his lifetime or after his death, or adopted, after the making of his will, and dies leaving such child unprovided for by any settlement, and neither provided for nor in any way mentioned in his will, the child succeeds to the same portion of the testator's real and personal property that he would have succeeded to if the testator had died intestate.

cation, pro tanto, of a will in the case where a child is born to the testator after execution of the will. Section 74-1-32,<sup>4</sup> U.C.A. provides for the revocation of a will in the case of a pretermitted heir. As noted, the four exceptions to Section 74-1-19, U.C.A. are all by operation of law. The legal statutory scheme then for revocation of wills is clear: Unless the will is revoked by operation of law, a will may be revoked only by a subsequent will, or by destruction with intent to revoke. Loss of a will clearly does not revoke the will under Utah law.

Except in the operation-of-law cases, two elements must be shown to prove an effective revocation: (1) A physical act--either making a new will or destroying the old one; and (2) intent to revoke. In the case of a subsequent will, the act and intent are apparent from the will itself. In the case of a destroyed will, however, mere destruction does not necessarily evince an intent to revoke. If the will is accidentally or mistakenly destroyed, since there is no intent, there is no revocation; for under Section 74-1-19, U.C.A. the intent element is explicit and essential. "With the intent and for the purpose of revoking the same." (Emphasis added.) Thus, absent the requisite intent, there is no revocation. Loss of a will may create a presumption of revocation, but such presumption is clearly overcome by contrary statements from the testator.

---

<sup>4</sup> 74-1-32. Failure to provide for child or child's issue. When any testator omits to provide in his will for any of his children, natural or adopted, or for the issue of any deceased child, unless it appears that such omission was intentional, such child or the issue of such child has the same share in the estate of the testator as if he had died intestate, and succeeds thereto as provided in the preceeding section.

What is the effect of Section 75-3-26, U.C.A. upon statutory scheme outlining the exclusive means for revocation of a will? Section 75-3-26, U.C.A. requires that the will must be shown to be "in existence" at the testator's death. If the will were accidentally or mistakenly destroyed by testator during his lifetime, but without the intent to revoke, under Section 75-1-19, U.C.A. it is still a valid will and has not been revoked, and should be legally operative. But if "in existence" means physical existence, since the paper is no longer in existence, the will cannot be probated. Thus, the result is that an unrevoked will, one which disposes of the testator's property as he wanted and intended, and one which he intended to be effective as a will, cannot be probated. Such a result abrogates the intent of the testator and is, thus, absurd, unfair, unjust, and it does not subserve the purpose of the statute as outlined in Frandsen, and also contradicts the liberal construction demanded by Frandsen.

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