1977

In the Matter of the Estate of Harvard L. Wheadon, Deceased : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT "IN EXISTENCE" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 75-3-26 OF THE UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953 REFERS TO PHYSICAL AND NOT TO MERE LEGAL EXISTENCE.

At the time of Harvard Wheadon's death and at the time of trial Section 75-3-26 of the Utah Code Annotated, 1953 contained the following language which governs this case:

"Proof of will lost or destroyed, --

No will shall be proved as a lost or destroyed will, unless the same is proved to have been in existence at the time of the death of the testator or is shown to have been fraudulently destroyed in the lifetime of the testator, nor unless its provisions are clearly and distinctly proved by at least two credible witnesses." (emphasis added)

The petitioners Wheadon and Tilbury contend that when one reads the entire section of the statute, it is much more probable that "in existence" means physical existence as opposed to mere existence in contemplation of law. If the statutory term "in existence" does not require the physical presence of the will, the statutory language about fraudulent destruction within the testator's lifetime is gross surplusage. A will could not possibly be fraudulently destroyed during the testator's lifetime if the actual testamentary document did not need to be produced.

Such a will, though not in actual existence would exist in contemplation of law and, thus, could not be fraudulently destroyed within the testator's lifetime. It is an obvious maxim of statutory construction that a statute should be construed in such a manner as to give effect to all its contents. 73 Am.Jur.2d Statutes, § 191, pp. 389-390.

From the plain language of Section 75-3-26 it is evident that its contents have to do with the evidentiary requirements of proving a lost or destroyed will. The statute says that physical existence is not required if the will is shown to have been fraudulently destroyed during the testator's life. Otherwise, there must be proof that the will was in actual existence when the testator died. Section 75-3-26 does not address itself to revocation, but rather to evidentiary sufficiency. Section 75-3-26 does not conflict with Section 75-1-19 which deals with revocation of wills since each statute has a different purpose. Section 75-1-19 deals with how a will may be revoked--not with evidentiary questions of proof. Section 75-3-26 deals not with the substantive question of revocation, but rather with the minimum evidentiary conditions which must be shown before an alleged lost or destroyed will could be admitted to probate. See In re Estate of Strickman, 55 Cal Rptr. 606, 608 (1966).

Not only does the express language of the statute point to the conclusion that "in existence" means physical existence, but the only Utah case in point clearly assumes that "in existence"

means the physical reality of the testamentary document at the time of the testator's death. In the decision In re Frandsen's Will, 50 Utah 156, 167 Pac. 362 (1917), the Utah Supreme Court interpreted the precursor of Section 75-3-26 and held that for purposes of the will statutes, when the testatrix in that case became insane, she was legally dead. A will was shown to have been in existence at the time the decedent lost her sanity. And since that will physically existed at the time of her insanity, it also existed at the time of her death for proof of will purposes.

However, in order to get to the point that a testatrix's insanity equals death for proof of will purposes, the court assumed that "in existence", within the meaning of the statute, meant physical existence. The opinion contains the following language:

" . . . [O]n July 19, 1900 the testatrix then of sound and disposing mind and memory duly executed the will last proposed for probate and . . . deposited the same with the County Clerk of Carbon County; that thereafter and before any of the other proposed wills were executed, the testatrix, at least once, in the presence of one witness, saw the will in the County Clerk's office, and she then, and at other times according to the evidence, expressed herself as being satisfied with its provisions; that the will was recorded in a book in the county clerk's office by a young lady who held some official position in said office; that the will was last seen in the County Clerk's office by the witnesses who testified at the hearing in March, 1912, and its contents were then examined by them." 50 Utah 160-161, 167 Pac. at 363 (emphasis added).

"As we have seen the court found that on July 5, 1911 and on June 27, 1912, the testatrix 'was not of sound mind or memory' and that she then was 'incapacitated from making, executing or understanding a will.' We thus have a case where the will in question was shown to have existed some eight months after the testatrix had become insane, as found and declared by the court, which finding and declaration we have seen is binding upon us and upon the parties in interest." Id. (emphasis added)

If all that were needed was that the will have legal existence, there was no reason for the Supreme Court to emphasize the physical existence of the 1900 will at and after the date the testatrix became insane. To counsel for the Wheadons and Mrs. Tilbury it appears that the court in Frandsen took it for granted that "in existence" meant physical presence.

That conclusion is buttressed by further language from the Frandsen decision:

"Now in this case it is conclusively shown that the will existed for a period of about eight months after the testatrix became insane and incapacitated from either making or revoking a will. True, the testator continued her physical existence. Her mind, however, the one thing necessary to make or revoke a will, was gone . . ." Id. at 165, 167 Pac. at 365. (emphasis added)

Again, if existence in contemplation of law were sufficient, the court would not have emphasized the actual physical existence of the testamentary document itself. It would not have spoken of the will in the past tense. If existence in contemplation of law were all that were required, the court would have regarded the will as a present and not a past item. Based upon

all the foregoing, it appears to counsel for the respondents that the court in Frandsen understood the "in existence" as used in the statute to mean physical existence.

The court in Frandsen indicated that the Utah precursor of § 75-3-26 was similar to a California statute. The most recent California decisions these counsel have found construe "in existence" in the California successor statute to mean physical existence. In re Estate of Lane, 7 Cal.App.3d 402, 86 Cal. Rptr. 620 (1970); In re Estate of Strickman, supra.

As counsel for the appellants argue in their brief, an earlier California decision held that legal existence was sufficient. In re Estate of Bristol, 23 Cal.2d 221, 143 P.2d 689 (1943). However, Bristol was a 4-3 decision and Justice Traynor wrote a stinging dissent which was cited with approval by the later California decision in Strickman. Strickman, supra, at 608. In addition, Bristol has been criticized by at least one California scholar. Ferrier "Statutory Restrictions on Probate of Lost Wills," 32 California Law Review 221,223.

If the later California decisions do not expressly reverse Bristol, they at least announce a departure from it and clearly set forth a physical existence criterion.

In Strickman, the third page of a will could not be found, even though there was evidence that that page had originally been part of the will. A substitute page, unexecuted by the

testatrix was located, however. Witnesses identified the original first two pages and a copy of the original page 3.

The California statute, Section 350 of the California Probate Code provided:

"No will shall be proven as a lost or destroyed will unless proved to have been in existence at the time of the death of the testator, or shown to have been destroyed by public calamity, or destroyed fraudulently in the lifetime of the testator, without his knowledge; nor unless its provisions are clearly and distinctly proved by at least two credible witnesses."

After reviewing with favor the Traynor dissent in Bristol, the intermediate appellate court held:

"We have concluded that although the three-page will of 1962 was validly executed, page 3 thereof cannot be probated because it was no longer in physical existence at the time of the death of the testator." 55 Cal.Rptr. at 608. (emphasis added)

In the decision In re Estate of Lane, supra, certain claimants under a 1963 will attempted to have that will admitted to probate. The petitioners could not produce the original 1963 will, but had a copy which had been furnished by the attorney who prepared it. There was no evidence that the will was in existence at the time of the testatrix's death. The case arose under Section 350 of the California Probate Code cited earlier.

The court affirmed a summary judgment against the 1963 will claimants, holding:

"Insofar as lost or destroyed wills are concerned, those requirements are specifically spelled out in Probate Code Section 350. The words 'unless proved to have been in existence at the time of the death of the testator' may not be equated with proof the will has not been revoked. The word 'existence' used in the code section means 'physical existence' rather than 'legal existence.'" Lane, supra, 86 Cal.Rptr. at 622 (emphasis added).

Another recent western state decision was In re Estate of Newman, 518 P.2d 800 (Mont. 1974). The applicable Montana statute, Section 91-1202, R.C.M., 1947, provided:

"No will shall be proved as a lost or destroyed will, unless the same is proved to have been in existence at the time of the death of the testator, or is shown to have been fraudulently destroyed in the lifetime of the testator, nor unless its provisions are clearly and distinctly proved by at least two credible witnesses."

In the course of the opinion, the court cited its earlier decision in In re Colbert's Estate, 31 Mont. 461, 471, 78 P.2d 971, 974:

"Now, as we have heretofore seen, the statute is to the effect that the proponent of a lost will must prove either that the will was actually in existence at the time of the testator's death, or that it is in existence in contemplation of law. If it was fraudulently destroyed in his lifetime, it is still so in existence. If appellant cannot prove that the will was in existence, either actually or in contemplation of the law, at the time Colbert died, it follows that his case cannot stand." Newman, supra, at 802-803.

As is evident from the cited passage, Montana, like California, requires physical existence except where the will is shown to have been fraudulently destroyed during the testator's

lifetime. The existence in contemplation of law is not a blanket of abandonment of the necessity for proof of the will's physical existence at the time of the testator's death. Rather, physical existence is required except where the will is proved to have been fraudulently destroyed during the testator's lifetime.

Other authorities could be cited, but respondents urge that the plain language of the statute, the Frandsen decision, and the cited California and Montana cases based on statutes similar to section 75-3-26 all indicate that "in existence" means physical existence. As a matter of policy the legislature of this state decided that lost or destroyed wills could only be proved by showing one of two things: 1) fraudulent destruction during the testator's life or 2) actual existence of the will after the testator's death. If the proponent of a purported lost or destroyed will cannot establish either fraudulent destruction or existence at the time of death, the document cannot be probated.

For reasons set forth herein, it is urged that the better reasoned cases in states having statute's similar to 75-3-26 require physical existence. The Frandsen decision seems to adopt the physical existence standard as the law of this state and the lower court properly applied that standard to the facts in this case.

POINT II. THE PRESUMPTION THAT A WILL MISSING AT THE TIME OF THE TESTATOR'S DEATH WAS DESTROYED BY HIM WITH INTENT TO REVOKE APPLIES IN THIS CASE AND WAS UNREBUTTED.

The Frandsen decision cited earlier refers to the following general rule:

"When it is shown that the testator made a will, but that it could not be found at his death, then, ordinarily, the presumption arises that he himself destroyed it for the purpose of revoking it before his death" Frandsen, supra, at 161-162, 167 Pac. at 363-365.

Although the court in Frandsen held that the presumption is overcome where the testator has left his will with another and did not have access to it after its deposit and before his death, Frandsen, supra, at 165, 167 Pac. at 355, the general presumption does apply where the testator retained actual control of or had easy access to the will at the time it was last seen. The court in Frandsen cited with approval language from the case of Schultz v. Schultz, 35 N.Y. 653, where the New York court wrote:

"If the will had remained in the custody of the testator, or if it had appeared that, after its execution he had access to it, the presumption of law would be from the fact that it could not be found after his decease, that the same had been destroyed by him" 167 Pac. at 364.

The evidence introduced at trial compels the conclusion that Harvard Wheadon either had or had access to the original will after its execution. The attorney who drafted the will indicated his policy, at the time the original will was signed,

was to leave the original with the testator, since at that time the attorney did not have a fire-proof safe. (Tr. 1-23, 2-18) The will file of that attorney did not reflect any original will kept by the attorney; (Tr. 2-6, 2-7) only the codicil. A diligent search disclosed no will.

In their brief, appellants recognize the rule that where "a will was last known to be in the testator's possession and cannot be found after his death, the will is presumed to have been destroyed with the intent to revoke . . ." Appellant's Brief p. 16. Their only response is that the language of 75-3-26 makes the presumption conclusive. This simply is not the case. If a proponent of a lost or destroyed will can prove fraudulent destruction of the will during the testator's lifetime, the physical document need not be produced. The problem the petitioners have is they failed to prove any fraudulent destruction during the testator's lifetime or the actual existence of the will at the time of the decedent's death.

Though witnesses testified the decedent felt his affairs were in order and remarked about the general advisability of having a will, the only evidence wherein the decedent allegedly specifically referred to the location of his will was in a conversation with Judy Burton when he told her the will was in his safety deposit box. (Tr. 3-2, 3-3) It is to be emphasized that this statement was introduced not to show that the decedent actually had a will, but only to show his state of mind as to

whether he thought he had a will (Tr. 2-50). Of critical importance is that shortly after his death Mrs. Burton and others looked in the box and found no 1955 will - only a copy of the codicil. Mrs. Burton indicated she was surprised when no original will was there.

The Bank records indicated that the decedent was the only person who had access to the safety deposit box. Prior to his death no one but the decedent had been into the box. The decedent, however, had made rather frequent entries to the box prior to his death. There was no evidence that the decedent ever claimed to have lost the original will or surrendered its custody to third persons under circumstances where he was denied access to it. To the contrary, the evidence was clear that at least at some time after its execution, the decedent had the will or had access to it.

The petitioners Wheadon and Tilbury contend that the better reasoned cases, which have considered the issue under facts similar to those in this case, hold that alleged statements of a testator prior to his death as to the existence of a will do not destroy the general presumption of revocation. In the decision In re Casey's Estate, 127 N.J.Eq. 101, 11 A.2d 38 (1940), it appeared that a testator made a will in 1937. The testator took the original will while his attorney kept an unexecuted copy. On frequent occasions thereafter the decedent-testator referred to the 1937 will. The last occasion he referred to the will was on

February 5, 1938. The following day, February 6, 1938, the testator-decedent disappeared and was never seen alive again. The coroner determined his death to have been on February 8, 1938, and the cause thereof suicide. A diligent search for the 1937 will was unsuccessful.

The lower court held that the

". . . proofs adduced were not sufficient to rebut the presumption of revocation which arose from the fact that deceased had possession of the will; that the proofs did not exclude every possibility of the destruction of the will by the deceased himself; and that under the proofs there was a possibility that deceased had destroyed his will animo revocandi between February 5, 1938 and the date of his death [citation omitted]." 11 A.2d at 39.

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